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Protocol—Dealing with Allegations of Misuse of Parliamentary Work Expenses 

The Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority (IPEA) was established to provide greater 
accountability and transparency of the Parliamentary Work Expenses Framework (the Framework). 
IPEA provides assurance that parliamentarians’ work resources and Members of Parliament (Staff) 
Act 1984 (MOP(S) Act) employees’ travel resources are spent in compliance with the Framework. 

IPEA deals with possible misuse of work or travel resources at arm’s length from Government. The 
Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority Act 2017 (IPEA Act) provides legislative powers for 
the auditing and reporting of parliamentarians’ work and travel resources and MOP(S) Act travel 
resources. 

When IPEA becomes aware of information that indicates possible non-compliance with the 
Framework, IPEA may conduct a preliminary assessment. The assessment scrutinises the use of the 
work or travel resource and determines if a parliamentary business resource has been used. 

Possible misuse 

In the event of possible misuse, IPEA decides whether to undertake an assurance review or audit of 
the matter. IPEA does not undertake assurance reviews or audits at the request of parliamentarians 
or MOP(S) Act employees. 

• Under the IPEA Act, IPEA may audit any parliamentarian’s work or travel resource or
MOP(S) Act travel resource as it considers appropriate.

• IPEA may conduct an assurance review where a preliminary assessment indicates that a
Commonwealth resource was used for a parliamentarian’s work expense or MOP(S) Act
employee’s travel expense.

• IPEA may conduct an audit where there are allegations of systemic or substantial misuse
of work expenses or where there is an educative benefit.

• An audit may also be a systematic and comprehensive examination of the use by all
parliamentarians and/or MOP(S) Act employees of a specific category of work expense.

• The Members of the Authority or the Chief Executive Officer may issue a notice requiring
a person to provide information that is relevant to an audit by IPEA, as provided for under 
Part 5 of the IPEA Act. Criminal penalties apply for failure to comply with a notice, or for
providing false or misleading information.

• In the event of an audit, the parliamentarian or MOP(S) Act employee is accorded
procedural fairness to provide comment on any findings.

Members of the Authority decide whether a matter is referred to the Australian Federal Police 
(AFP) 

• The Minister responsible for the AFP and the Minister responsible for the Framework are
notified of a referral to the AFP.

Publication of audits 
• Members of the Authority decide whether, or not, to publish their decision(s).
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Attachment A 
Andrew Laming 

Assurance Review of travel expenses 
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1. What was the dominant purpose of your travel to Sydney on 5 and 6 April 2022? 

2. With reference to the definition given by section 6 of the PBR Act, what was the nature of your parliamentary business in Sydney on 5 and 6 April 2022? 

3. What was your dominant purpose of your travel to Melbourne from 6 to 10 April 2022? 

4. With reference to the definition given by section 6 of the PBR Act, what was the nature of your parliamentary business in Melbourne from 6 to 10 April 2022? 

5. Please advise whether your family’s travel expenses meet the three part test in section 6 of the Parliamentary Business Resources Regulations 2017: 

• You were travelling for the dominant purpose of conducting your parliamentary business; 
• Your family was travelling to accompany or join you; and 
• Your family’s travel was for the dominant purpose of facilitating family life. 









Be careful with this message
External email. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the
content is safe.

Dear Mr Laming,
Please find attached correspondence from the Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority in
relation to travel you have undertaken.
Should you wish to discuss this matter, please do not hesitate to contact me on (02) 6215 3000 or
assurance@ipea.gov.au.
Yours sincerely
Nicole Pearson
Branch Manager, Transparency, Assurance and Legal
Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority
T: 02 6215 3000 | E: 
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From: Andrew Laming
To: Assurance
Cc: Assurance
Subject: Re: Assurance Review - Mr Andrew Laming [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Date: Friday, 1 July 2022 1:28:28 PM
Attachments: image001.png

The previous Audit was a fabricated conclusion, arrived at by omitting hard copy evidence
in IPEA’s possession from the final report.
This was pointed out in the draft stage and IPEA bizarrely elected to evade those
constructive queries. The entirety of the Audit turned on the omissions.
It is also clear that the process was activated two years later for political purposes, just
48hours after adverse media; all of which has been found to be baseless.
I won’t be bullied into dropping concerns regarding IPEA conduct by the immediate
opening a new process.
The March 2022 Audit is now subject to appeal and I again ask IPEA to account for why
the following evidence of Parliamentary travel to the Hobart conference address as early as
June 11 2019 was excluded from Audit:
- conference registration, evening event booking, flight bookings, non-refundable
accommodation bookings and hard copy invitation to attend, available from the convenor
upon request.

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Assurance 
Sent: Friday, July 1, 2022 12:51:36 PM
To:  
Cc: Assurance 
Subject: RE: Assurance Review - Mr Andrew Laming [SEC=OFFICIAL]
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Dear Mr Laming
Thank you for your response.
Please find attached further correspondence from the Independent Parliamentary Expenses
Authority in relation to this matter.
It is important that you read the correspondence and respond.
Should you wish to discuss this matter, please do not hesitate to contact me on  or
at assurance@ipea.gov.au.
Yours sincerely
Nicole Pearson
Branch Manager, Transparency, Assurance and Legal
Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority

SEC=OFFICIAL
From: Andrew Laming 
Sent: Friday, 20 May 2022 10:03 AM
To: Assurance 
Cc: Assurance 
Subject: HPE CM: Re: Assurance Review - Mr Andrew Laming [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Thank you.
Please accept yesterday's response as my final correspondence regarding this matter.
Get Outlook for iOS
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Be careful with this message
External email. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the
content is safe.

From: Assurance <Assurance@ipea.gov.au>
Sent: Friday, May 20, 2022 9:54:14 AM
To: Andrew Laming 
Cc: Assurance <Assurance@ipea.gov.au>
Subject: RE: Assurance Review - Mr Andrew Laming [SEC=OFFICIAL]

SEC=OFFICIAL

Dear Mr Laming
Thank you for your response. Please find attached further correspondence from the Independent
Parliamentary Expenses Authority in relation to this matter.
Should you wish to discuss this matter, please do not hesitate to contact me on (02) 6215 3000 or
at assurance@ipea.gov.au.
Yours sincerely
Nicole Pearson
Branch Manager, Transparency, Assurance and Legal
Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority
T: 02 6215 3000 | E: 
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From: Andrew Laming  
Sent: Thursday, 19 May 2022 2:16 PM
To: Assurance <Assurance@ipea.gov.au>
Subject: Re: Assurance Review - Mr Andrew Laming [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Dear IPEA,
The Sydney leg (5,6/4/2022) comprised meetings in a Parliamentary capacity with the Australian
Society of Ophthalmologists. The Melbourne leg encompassed vehicle travel to a two-day event
(8,9/4/2022) in regional Victoria in my electorate capacity, given my involvement through
Stronger Communities funding in re-establishing post-COVID, a successful model for a similar
regional community event in Bowman. The dependents' return travel was
accompaniment/facilitation of family life. Additional incidental meetings were held in both
locations and I am prepared to publicly justify the benefits and value for money of the journey.

My current priority remains obtaining independent assessment of the 2019 IPEA travel
assurance/audit decision.

From: Assurance <Assurance@ipea.gov.au>
Sent: 18 May 2022 10:44
To: 
Cc: Assurance <Assurance@ipea.gov.au>
Subject: Assurance Review - Mr Andrew Laming [SEC=OFFICIAL]
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Dear Mr Laming,
Please find attached correspondence from the Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority in
relation to travel you have undertaken.
Should you wish to discuss this matter, please do not hesitate to contact me on (02) 6215 3000 or
assurance@ipea.gov.au.
Yours sincerely
Nicole Pearson
Branch Manager, Transparency, Assurance and Legal
Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority
T: 02 6215 3000 | E: 
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7 July 2022 

Mr Andrew Laming 

Email:  

Dear Mr Laming 

Outstanding Assurance Matter 

I wrote to you on 30 June 2022 in relation to an Assurance Review of your use of travel expenses 
between 5 and 10 April 2022.  My letter noted that in your earlier correspondence on this Review 
you had not provided IPEA with the supporting documentation necessary for the conduct of the 
Review.  I advised you of the obligations imposed upon parliamentarians by section 98 of the 
Parliamentary Business Resources Act 2017.  

Your response of 1 July 2022 did not address the Assurance Review but raised matters pertaining to 
the earlier Audit of your use of business expenses between 21 and 27 June 2019.  I will deal with 
those matters first. 

On 3 March 2022, IPEA’s acting Chief Executive Officer wrote to you enclosing a copy of the Draft 
Audit Report.  You were invited to correct any factual errors and provide any further relevant 
evidence for consideration in relation to the draft findings. You responded in emails dated 16 and 23 
March 2022. IPEA gave consideration to the contents of that correspondence and concluded that 
you had not identified factual errors or provided further relevant and material information. The 
Chief Executive Officer wrote to you on 24 March 2022 enclosing a copy of the final Audit Report and 
the Ruling of the Members of IPEA. 

In subsequent emails to IPEA, you have spoken of obtaining independent assessment of the Audit 
and have indicated that the Audit is now subject to appeal. While judicial review of an audit 
outcome and a ruling may be available under section 39B of the Judiciary Act 1903 – a matter on 
which you would need to seek independent legal advice – IPEA has not been advised of any review. 
Accordingly, IPEA currently regards this matter as closed.   

Attachment A
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In relation to the Assurance Review of your use of travel expenses between 5 and 10 April 2022, I 
again confirm that section 98 of the Parliamentary Business Resources Regulations 2017 requires 
that a parliamentarian is obliged to provide IPEA with such compliance information as is required to 
determine that an expense has been incurred in accordance within the legislated provisions. Where 
compliance information as sought is not provided, section 98 specifies that the Commonwealth is 
not liable for the cost of resources accessed.  

Accordingly, if you do not by Friday 15 July 2022 provide IPEA with supporting documentation as 
specified in both my letters of 18 and 20 May 2022, I will raise an invoice for the relevant travel 
expenses.  

Yours sincerely  

 

Nicole Pearson 
Branch Manager, Transparency, Assurance and Legal 
Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority 
One Canberra Avenue, FORREST ACT 2603 
T:   s22(1)
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